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PREFACE

This special study was designed to answer specific historical and
architectural questions posed by the staff of Hot Springs National Park
and the Southwest Region. These questions formed the basis for this
document. Additional material was used to place the study in an
appropriate historical context. The first chapter is an effort to place the
spa development at Hot Springs National Park in a broader context by
giving an abbreviated general world history of spas with special emphasis
on spa development in the United States. The second chapter presents a
general history of the hot springs from prehistoric times to the present
with special emphasis on the rise and decline of bathhouse row. The
next several chapters are in-depth discussions of a series of topics
related to the bathing industry at Hot Springs National Park. The topics
discussed include the construction history of the thermal water
distribution system and creek arch; bathing routines over the centuries;
bathing as part of prescribed medical treatment for the cure of diseases;
the financial aspects of the bathing industry; the treatment of the poor
by private enterprise and the government; the treatment of minorities by
private enterprise and the government; development of transportation to
the hot springs; legal and illegal promotional activities of the hot springs
and their medical benefits; criminal activity that took place around the
hot springs; fires and floods in the community surrounding the hot
springs; the social and recreational activities at the hot springs;
scientific investigations of the hot springs; the architecture of the
bathhouses; and biographies of the bathhouse designers. These topics
provide the framework for discussion of the myriad of human activities

and uses of the thermal water at Hot Springs National Park.

The document represents the combined efforts of John Paige and Laura
Soulliere Harrison. Chapters 1 through 3 and 5 through 7 are primarily
the work of Mr. Paige. Ms. Harrison supplied considerable architectural
information and wrote portions of chapters 1 and 2. Ms. Harrison is the
primary author for chapters 4, 8, and 9 and is responsible for the

illustrations and captions.
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CHAPTER 1: THE SPA INDUSTRY IN WORLD PERSPECTIVE

THE HISTORY OF SPAS

Prehistoric Bathing

At the beginning of the 20th century, promoters of the spa at Hot
Springs, Arkansas, claimed that the bathhouses there served people from
around the world and that the curative abilities of that southern spa's
waters were of worldwide renown. These claims, however, require
careful analysis to evaluate their validity and to properly understand the
place of Hot Springs in the broader context of European and United

States spa history.

The practice of traveling to hot or cold springs in hopes of effecting a
cure of some ailment dates to prehistoric times. Archeological
investigations near hot springs in France and Czechoslovakia revealed
Bronze Age weapons and offerings. In Great Britain, ancient legend
credited early Celtic kings with the discovery of the hot springs at Bath,
England.

Many European, Mideastern, African, Australian, North American, South
American, Central American, and Asian peoples believed that bathing in a
particular spring, well, or river resulted in physical and spiritual
purification. Forms of ritual purification existed among the native
Americans, Persians, Babylonians, Egyptians, Greeks, and Romans.
Today, ritual purificiation through water can be found in the religious
ceremonies of Jews, Mohammedans, Christians, Buddhists, and Hindus.
These ceremonies reflect the ancient beliefs in the healing and purifying
properties of water“.1 Complex bathing rituals were also practiced in
ancient Egypt, in prehistoric cities of the Indus Valley, and in Aegean
civilizations. Most often these ancient people did Ilittle building
construction around the water, and what they did construct was very

temporary in nature.



Bathing in Greek and Roman Times

Some of the earliest written descriptions of western bathing practices
came from Greece. The Greeks began bathing regimens that formed the
foundation for modern spa procedures. These Aegean people utilized
small bathtubs, washbasins, and footbaths for personal cleanliness. They
established public baths and showers within their gymnasium complexes
for relaxation and personal hygiene. Greek mythology specified that
certain natural springs or tidal pools were blessed by the gods to cure
disease. Around these sacred pools, Greeks established bathing facilities
for those desiring healing. Supplicants left offerings to the gods of
healing at these sites and bathed themselves in hopes of a cure. The
Spartans developed a primitive vapor bath. At Serangeum, an early
Greek balneum (bathhouse, loosely translated), bathing chambers were
cut into the hillside from which the hot springs issued. A series of
niches cut into the rock above the chambers held bathers' clothing. One
of the bathing chambers had a decorative mosaic floor depicting a driver
and chariot pulled by four horses, a woman followed by two dogs, and a
dolphin below. Thus, the early Greeks used the natural features, but
expanded them and added their own amenities, such as decorations and
shelves. During later Greek civilization, bathhouses were often built in

conjunction with athletic fields.2

The Romans emulated many of the Greek bathing practices. Romans
surpassed the Greeks in the size and complexity of their baths. As in
Greece, the Roman bath became a focal center for social and recreational
activity. As the Roman Empire expanded, the idea of the public bath
spread to all parts of the Mediterranean and into regions of Europe and
North Africa. With the construction of the aqueducts, the Romans had
enough water not only for domestic, agricultural, and industrial
purposes, but also for their leisurely pursuits. The aqueducts provided
water that was later heated for use in the baths. Today, the extent of
the Roman bath is revealed at ruins and in archeological excavations in

Europe, Africa, and the Middle East.



These Roman baths varied from simple to exceedingly elaborate
structures, and they varied in size, arrangement, and decoration. In
taking a Roman bath, the bather induced sweating by gradually exposing
himself to increasing temperatures. To accommodate this ritual, all Roman
bathhouses contained a series of rooms which got progressively hotter.
Most contained an apodyterium--a room just inside the entrance where the
bather stored his clothes. Next, the bather progressed into the
frigidarium (cold room) with its tank of cold water, the tepidarium (warm
room), and finally the caldarium (hot room). The caldarium, heated by a
brazier underneath the hollow floor, contained cold-water basins which
the bather could use for cooling. After taking this series of sweat
and/or immersion baths, the bather returned to the cooler tepidarium for
a massage with oils and final scraping with metal implements. Some baths
also contained a laconicum (a dry, resting room) where the bather

completed the process by resting and sweating.

The layout of Roman baths contained other architectural features of note.
Because wealthy Romans brought slaves to attend to their bathing needs,
the bathhouse usually had three entrances: one for men, one for women,
and one for slaves. The preference for symmetry in Roman architecture
usually meant a symmetrical facade, even though the women's area was
usually smaller than the men's area because of fewer numbers of patrons.
Usually solid walls or placement on opposite sides of the building
separated the men's and men's sections. Roman bathhouses often
contained a courtyard, or palestra, which was an open-air garden used
for exercise. In some cases the builders made the palestra an interior
courtyard, and in other cases the builders placed the palestra in front of
the bathhouse proper and incorporated it into the formal approach.
Sometimes the palestra held a swimming pool. Most often a colonnade

outlined the palestra's edges.3

Roman bathhouses offered amenities in addition to the bathing ritual.

Ancillary spaces in the bathhouse proper housed food- and
perfume-selling booths, libraries, and reading rooms. Stages
accommodated theatrical and musical performances. Adjacent stadia



provided spaces for exercise and athletic competitions. Inside the
bathhouses proper, marble mosaics tiled the elegant floors. The stuccoed

walls frequently sported frescoes of trees, birds, and other pastoral

images. Sky-blue paint, gold stars, and celestial imagery adorned
interior domes. Statuary and fountains decorated the interior and
exterior.

The Romans also developed baths in their colonies, taking advantage of
the natural hot springs occurring in Europe to construct baths at Aix and
Vichy in France, Bath and Buxton in England, Aachen and Weisbaden in

West Germany, Baden in Austria, and Aquincum in Hungary, among other

locations. These baths became centers for recreational and social
activities in Roman communities. Libraries, lecture halls, gymnasiums,
and formal gardens became part of some bath complexes. In addition, the

Romans used the hot thermal waters to relieve their suffering from
rheumatism, arthritis, and overindulgence in food and drink. The decline
of the Roman Empire in the west, beginning in A.D. 337 after the death
of Emperor Constantine, resulted in Roman legions abandoning their
outlying provinces and leaving the baths to be taken over by the local

population or destr‘oyed.4

Thus, the Romans elevated bathing to a fine art, and their bathhouses
physically reflected these advancements. The Roman bath, for instance,
included a far more complex ritual than a simple immersion or sweating
procedure. The various parts of the bathing ritual--undressing,
bathing, sweating, receiving a massage, and resting--required separated
rooms which the Romans built to accommodate those functions. The
segregation of the sexes and the addition of diversions not directly
related to bathing also had direct impacts on the shape and form of
bathhouses. The elaborate Roman bathing ritual and its resultant
architecture served as precedents for later European and American
bathing facilities. Formal garden spaces and opulent architectural
arrangement equal to those of the Romans reappeared in Europe by the
end of the eighteenth century. Major American spas followed suit a

century later.



Bathing in Medieval Times

With the decline of the Roman Empire, the public baths often became
places of licentious behavior, and such use was responsible for the
spread rather than the cure of diseases. A general belief developed
among the European populace was that frequent bathing promoted disease
and sickness. Medieval church authorities encouraged this belief and
made every effort to close down public baths. Ecclesiastical officials
believed that public bathing created an environment open to immorality
and disease. Roman Catholic Church officials even banned public bathing
in an unsuccessful effort to halt syphilis epidemics from sweeping Europe.

Overall, this period represented a time of decline for public bathing.5

People continued to seek out a few select hot and cold springs, believed
to be holy wells, to cure various ailments. In an age of religious fervor,
the benefits of the waters were attributed to God or one of the saints.
In 1326 Collin le Loup, an ironmaster from Liege, Belgium, discovered the
chalybeate springs of Spa in Belgium.6 Around these springs, a famous
health resort eventually grew and the term '"spa" came to refer to any
health resort located near natural springs. During this period, individual
springs became associated with the specific ailment that they could

allegedly benefit.

Bathing procedures during this period varied greatly. By the 16th
century, physicians at Karlsbad, Bohemia, prescribed that the mineral
water be taken internally as well as externally. Patients periodically
bathed in warm water for up to 10 or 11 hours while drinking glasses of
mineral water. The first bath session occurred in the morning, and the
second commenced in the afternoon. This treatment lasted several days
until skin pustules formed and broke resulting in the draining of
"poisons" considered to be the source of the disease. Then followed
another series of shorter, hotter baths to wash the infection away and

close the eruptions. ¥



Bathing in the 18th Century

In the 17th century most upper-class Europeans washed their clothes with
water often and washed only their faces (with linen), feeling that bathing
the entire body was a lower-class activity; but the upper-class slowly
began changing their attitudes toward bathing as a way to restore health
later in that century. The wealthy flocked to health resorts to drink and
bathe in the waters. In 1702 Queen Anne of England traveled to Bath,
the former Roman development, to bathe. A short time later Richard
(Beau) Nash came to Bath. Nash was a professional gambler with a great
ability for promotion. By the force of his personality, Nash became the
arbiter of good taste and manners in England. He along with financier
Ralph Allen and architect John Wood transformed Bath from a country spa
into the social capital of England. Bath set the tone for other spas in
Europe to follow. Ostensibly, the wealthy and famous arrived there on a
seasonal basis to bathe in and drink the water; however, they also came
to display their opulence. Social activities at Bath included dances,

concerts, playing cards, lectures, and promenading down the street.8

A typical day in Bath might be an early morning communal bath followed
by a private breakfast party. Afterwards, one either drank water at the
Pump Room (a building constructed over the thermal water source) or
attended a fashion show. Physicians encouraged health resort patrons to
bathe in and drink the waters with equal vigor. The next several hours
of the day could be spent in shopping, visiting the lending library,
attending concerts, or stopping at one of the coffeehouses. At 4:00 p.m.
the rich and famous dressed up in their finery and promenaded down the
streets. Next came dinner, more promenading, and an evening of

dancing or gambling .9

Similar activities occurred in health resorts throughout Europe. The spas
became stages on which Europeans paraded with great pageantry. These
resorts became infamous as places of gossip and scandals. The various

social and economic classes selected specific seasons during the year's



course, staying from one to several months, to vacation at each resort.
One season aristocrats occupied the resorts; at other times, prosperous
farmers or retired military men took the baths. The wealthy and the
criminals that preyed on them moved from one spa to the next as the

fashionable season for that resort c:hanged.1O

During the 18th century a revival in the medical uses of spring water
took place among some Italian, German, and English physicians. This
revival changed the way of taking a spa treatment. For example, in
Karisbad the accepted method for drinking the mineral water required
sending large water barrels to individual boardinghouses where the
patients drank physician-prescribed dosages in the solitude of their
rooms. Dr. David Beecher in 1777 recommended that the patients come to
the fountainhead for the water and that each patient should first do some
prescribed exercises. This innovation increased the medicinal benefits
obtained and gradually physical activity became part of the European
bathing regimen. In 1797 in England Dr. James Currier published The
Effects of Water, Cold and Warm, as a Remedy in Fever and Other

Diseases. This book stimulated additional interest in water cures and
advocated the external and internal use of water as part of the curing

11
process.

Bathing in the 19th and 20th Centuries

In the 19th century, bathing became a more accepted practice as
physicians realized some of the benefits that cleanliness could provide. A
cholera epidemic in Liverpool, England in 1842 resulted in a sanitation
renaissance--more people bathed and washed their clothes. That same
year a house in Cincinnati, Ohio, received the first indoor bathtub in the
United States. Bathing, however, was still not a universal custom. Only
one year later--in 1843--bathing between November 1 and March 15 was
outlawed in Philadelbhia, Pennsylvania, as a health measure, and in 1845
bathing was banned in Boston, Massachusetts, unless under the direct

orders of a physician. The situation improved, however, and by 1867 in



Philadelphia most houses of the well-to-do had tubs and indoor plumbing.
In England, hot showers were installed in barracks and schools by the
18805.12 The taboos against bathing disappeared with advancements in
medical science; the worldwide medical community was even promoting the
benefits of bathing. In addition, the Victorian taste for the exotic lent

itself perfectly to seeking out the curative powers of thermal water.

In most instances the formal architectural development of European spas
took place in the 18th and 19th centuries. The architecture of Bath,
England, developed along Georgian and Neoclassical lines, generally
following Palladian structures. The most important architectural form that
emerged was the 'crescent'"--a semi-elliptical street plan used in many
areas of England.13 The architecture of Karlsbad, Marienbad,
Franzensbad, and Baden-Baden was primarily Neoclassical, but the
literature seems to indicate that large bathhouses were not constructed
until well into the 19th century. The emphasis on drinking the waters
rather than bathing in them led to the development of separate structures
known as Trinkhallen (drinking halls) where those taking the cure spent

hours drinking water from the spr‘ings.14

By the mid-19th century the situation had changed dramatically. Visitors
to the European spas began to stress bathing in addition to drinking the
waters. Besides fountains, pavilions, and Trinkhallen, bathhouses on the
scale of the Roman baths were revived. Photographs of a 19th-century
spa complex taken in the 1930s, detailing the earlier architecture, show a
heavy use of mosaic floors, marble walls, classical statuary, arched
openings, domed ceilings, segmental arches, triangular pediments,
Corinthian columns, and all of the other trappings of a Neoclassical
revival. The buildings were usually separated by function--with the
Trinkhalle, the bathhouse, the inhalatorium (for inhaling the vapors),

and the Kurhaus or Conversationhaus that was the center of social

activity. Baden-Baden featured golf courses and tennis courts, '"superb

roads to motor over, and drives along quaint lanes where wild deer are

2 . 15
as common as cows with us, and almost as unafraid."



The European spa, then, started with structures to house the drinking
function--from simple fountains to pavilions to elaborate Trinkhallen. The
enormous bathhouses came later in the 19th century as a renewed
preference for an elaborate bathing ritual to cure ills and improve health
came into vogue. European architects looked back to Roman civilization
and carefully studied its fine architectural precedents. The Europeans
copied the same formality, symmetry, division of rooms by function, and
opulent interior design in their bathhouses. They emulated the fountains
and formal garden spaces in their resorts, and they also added new
diversions. The tour books always mentioned the roomy, woodsy

offerings in the vicinity and the faster-paced evening diversions.

By the beginning of the 19th century the European bathing regimen
consisted of numerous accumulated traditions. The bathing routine
included soaking in hot water, drinking the water, steaming in a vapor
room, and relaxing in a cooling room. In addition, doctors ordered that
patients be douched with hot or cold water and given a select diet to
promote a cure. Authors began writing guidebooks to the health resorts
of Europe explaining the medical benefits and social amenities of each.
Rich Europeans and Americans traveled to these resorts to take in

cultural activities and the baths.16

Each European spa began offering similar cures while maintaining a
certain amount of individuality. The 19th century bathing regimen at
Karlsbad can serve as a general portrayal of European bathing practices
during this century. Visitors arose at 6:00 a.m. to drink the water and
be serenaded by a band. Next came a light breakfast, bath, and lunch.
The doctors of Karlsbad usually limited patients to certain foods for each
meal. In the afternoons visitors went sight-seeing or attended concerts.
Nightly theatrical performances followed the evening meal. This ended
around 9:00 p.m. with the patients returning to their boardinghouses to
sleep until six the next morning. This regimen continued for as long as
a month and then the patients returned home until the next year. Other

19th century European spa regimens followed similar schedules.17



At the beginning of the 20th century, European spas combined a strict
diet and exercise regimen with a complex bathing procedure to achieve
benefits for the patients. One example will suffice to illustrate the
change in bathing procedures. Patients at Baden-Baden, which
specialized in treating rheumatoid arthritis, were directed to see a doctor
before taking the baths. Once this occurred the bathers proceeded to
the main bathhouse where they paid for their baths and stored their
valuables before being assigned a booth for undressing. The bathhouse

supplied bathers with towels, sheets, and slippers.

The Baden-Baden bathing procedure began with a warm shower. The
bathers next entered a room of circulating, 140-degree hot air for 20
minutes, spent another 10 minutes in a room with a 150-degree
temperature, partook of a 154-degree vapor bath, then showered and
received a soap massage. After the massage, the bathers swam in a pool
heated approximately to body temperature. After the swim, the bathers
rested for 15 to 20 minutes in the warm "Sprudel" room pool. This
shallow pool's bottom contained an 8-inch layer of sand through which
naturally carbonated water bubbled up. This was followed by a series of
gradually cooler showers and pools. After that, the attendants rubbed
down the bathers with warm towels and then wrapped them in sheets and
covered them with blankets to rest for 20 minutes. This ended the
bathing portion of the treatment. The rest of the cure consisted of a

prescribed diet, exercise, and water-drinking pr‘ogram.18

The European spas provided various other diversions for guests after the
bath, including gambling, horse racing, fishing, hunting, tennis,
skating, skiing, dancing, golf, and horseback riding. Sight-seeing and
theatrical performances served as further incentives for people to go to
the spa. Some European governments even recognized the medical
benefits of spa therapy and paid a portion of the patient's expenses. A
number of these spas catered to those suffering from obesity and
overindulgence in addition to various other medical complaints. In recent
years, elegance and style of earlier centuries may have diminished, but

people still come to the natural hot springs for relaxation and health.19

10



THE HISTORY OF AMERICAN SPAS

Spas in Colonial America

Some European colonists brought with them knowledge of the hot water
therapy for medicinal purposes, and others learned the benefits of hot
springs from the Indians. Europeans gradually obtained many of the hot
and cold springs from the various Indian tribes. They then developed
the spring to suit European tastes. By the 1760s British colonists were
traveling to hot and cold springs in Connecticut, Pennsylvania, New
York, and Virginia in search of water cures. Among the more frequently
visited of these springs were Bath, Yellow, and Bristol Springs in
Pennsylvania; Saratoga Springs, Kinderhook, and Ballston Springs in New
York; and Warm Springs, Hot Springs, and White Sulphur Springs (now
in West Virginia) in Vir‘ginia.zo

Colonial doctors gradually began to recommend hot springs for ailments.
Dr. Benjamin Rush, American patriot and physician, praised the healing
virtues of the springs of Bristol, Pennsylvania, in 1773. Dr. Samuel
Tenney in 1783 and Dr. Valentine Seaman in 1792 examined the water of
Saratoga Springs in New York and wrote of possible medicinal uses for
the springs. Hotels were constructed to accommodate visitors to the
various springs. Entrepreneurs opened taverns where the travelers could

lodge, eat, and drink. Thus began the health resort industry in the
. 21
United States.

Bathing in 19th and 20th Century America

After the American Revolution, the spa industry continued to gain
popularity. By the 1850s hot and cold spring resorts existed in 20
states. Many of these resorts contained similar architectural features.
Most health resorts had a large, two-story central building near or at the
springs, with smaller structures surrounding it. The main building

provided the guests with facilities for dining and, possibly, dancing on

11



the first floor, and the second story consisted of sleeping rooms. The
outlying structures were individual guest cabins, and other auxiliary

buildings formed a semicircle or U-shape around the large building.22

These resorts offered swimming, fishing, hunting, and horseback riding
as well as facilities for bathing. The Virginia resorts, particularly White
Sulphur Springs, proved popular before and after the Civil War. After
the Civil War, spa vacations became very popular as returning soldiers
bathed to heal wounds and the American economy allowed more leisure
time. Saratoga Springs in New York became one of the main centers for
this type of activity. Bathing in and drinking the warm, carbonated
spring water only served as prelude to the more interesting social

activities of gambling, promenading, horse racing, and danc:ing.23

Saratoga Springs in New York had extensive architectural development by
the 1830s--a time when the buildings of Hot Springs, Arkansas, were
small log and frame structures without particularly distinctive
detailing--just basic envelopes to keep occupants from the weather. By
1815 Saratoga had large, four-story, Greek revival hotels. The
availability of train and steamship service to that destination by 1832
meant larger numbers of more sophisticated clientele. With the exception
of specialized baths provided in boardinghouses or small bathhouses
connected with the hotels, Saratoga's development during the 19th
century was based on leisure pursuits other than baths. Although
Saratoga and other spas in New York centered their developments around
the healthful mineral waters, their real drawing card was the complex
social life--that included pursuits from gambling on racehorses to seeing
the latest Paris fashions. Going to the mountains for the summer was a
major exodus undertaken by urban dwellers who could afford it, and
Saratoga became a hub of summer activity. Private development there
featured enormous hotels with great ballrooms, opera houses, stores, and
clubhouses. In 1865 the Union Hotel had its own esplanade, with fountain
and formal landscaping, and two small bathhouses. Yet, during the 19th
century the bathhouses were auxiliary structures and not the central

features of the resort.24

12



During the last half of the 19th century western entrepreneurs developed
natural hot and cold springs into resorts--from the Mississippi River to
the West Coast. Many of these spas offered individual tub baths, vapor
baths, douche sprays, needle showers, and pool bathing to their guests.
The various railroads that spanned the country promoted these resorts to
encourage train travel. Hot Springs, Arkansas, became a major resort in
the Midwest as the railroad opened up the Arkansas resort for people

from the large metropolitan areas of St. Louis and Chicago.25

The popularity of the spas continued into the 20th century. Some medical
critics, however, charged that the thermal waters in such renowned
resorts as Hot Springs, Virginia, and Saratoga Springs, New York, were
no more beneficial to health than ordinary heated water. The various spa
owners countered these arguments by developing better hydrotherapy for
their patients. At the Saratoga spa, treatments for heart and circulatory
disorders, rheumatic conditions, nervous disorders, metabolic diseases,
and skin diseases were developed. In 1910 the New York state
government began purchasing the principal springs to protect them from
exploitation. When Franklin Delano Roosevelt was governor of New York,
he pushed for a European type of spa development at Saratoga. The
architects for the new complex spent two years studying the technical
aspects of bathing in Europe. Completed in 1933, the development had
three bathhouses--Lincoln, Washington, and Roosevelt--a drinking hall,
the Hall of Springs, and a building housing the Simon Baruch Research
Institute. Four additional buildings composed the recreation area and
housed arcades and a swimming pool decorated with blue faience
terra-cotta tile. Saratoga spa's Neoclassical buildings were laid out in a
grand manner, with formal perpendicular axes, solid brick construction,
and stone and concrete Roman-revival detailing. The spa was surrounded
by a 1,200-acre natural park that had 18 miles of bridle paths, "with
measured walks at scientifically calculated gradients through its groves
and vales, with spouting springs adding unexpected touches to its vistas,
with the tumbling waters of Geyser Brook flowing beneath bridges of the
fine roads. Full advantage has been taken of the natural beauty of the

park, but no formal landscaping." Promotional literature again advertised
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the attractions directly outside the spa: shopping, horse races, and
historic sites associated with revolutionary war history. New York
Governor Herbert Lehman officially opened the new facilities to the public
in July 1935.26

Other leading spas in the country during this period were French Lick,
Indiana; Hot Springs and White Sulphur Springs, West Virginia; Hot
Springs, Arkansas; and Warm Springs, Georgia. French Lick specialized
in treating obesity and constipation through a combination of bathing in
and drinking the water and exercising. Hot Springs, Virginia,
specialized in digestive ailments and heart diseases, and White Sulphur
Springs, Virginia, treated these ailments and skin diseases. Both resorts
offered baths where the water would wash continuously over the patients
as they lay in a shallow pool. Warm Springs, Georgia, gained a
reputation for treating infantile paralysis by a procedure of baths and
exercise. President Franklin D. Roosevelt, who earlier supported

Saratoga, became a frequent visitor and promoter of this spa.27

By the late 1930s more than 2,000 hot- or cold-springs health resorts
were operating in the United States. This number had diminished greatly
by the 1950s and continued to decline in the following two decades.
Today's spas emphasize dietary, exercise, or recreational programs more
than traditional bathing activities. The public bathing industry remains
stagnant, but companies selling the individual home spas attract a large

and growing market. 2
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CHAPTER 2: THE HISTORY OF BATHING AT HOT SPRINGS,
ARKANSAS, UNTIL THE CIVIL WAR

THE NATURAL SETTING

Geology

The hot springs of Hot Springs National Park are the result of complex
natural geological processes. The park is in the Ouachita Mountains of
central Arkansas. The topography of the park is mountain ridges
running from east to west, intermontane basins, and the piedmont
plateau. Hot Springs lies at the southern edge of these ridges. These
mountains are mainly of sedimentary composition, encompassing geological
formations from the Ordovician (440 million years ago) period and,
possibly, as early as the Cambrian (470 million years ago) period.
During most of the Paleozoic era (470 to 230 million years ago), what
became the Ouachita Mountains lay submerged under an ancient shallow
sea that extended from Louisiana to New Hampshire. Approximately 500
million years ago, geological stresses deep in the earth resulted in the
exceedingly slow movement of the South American plate northward to
collide with the North American plate. This collision of tectonic plates
slowly over geological time created the Ouachita Mountains.1 The
enormous pressures of this geological activity caused the shale and
sandstone layers to fracture and fissure. These huge rock layers moved
up and down along the fault line, causing local relief to vary as much as
1,000 feet.?

Over the centuries, rainfall in the area northwest to northeast of the
park has percolated down through rock fractures and fissures in the Big
Fork formation and Arkansas novaculite where the heat from the interior
of the earth warms the water causing it to rise to the surface by way of
joints and faults in the Hot Springs sandstone formation. The surface
water temperature is more than 140 degrees. This journey from rainwater

to spring water takes about 4,000 years. At the surface the water
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escapes from the ground in both liquid and gaseous forms. The dissolved
minerals in the water precipitate to form the white to tan travertine or
"tufa rock" seen near the openings of the hot springs. Slightly less than

a million gallons of water a day flow from the 47 springs in the par‘k.3

The geography has obviously affected the development pattern of the
area. All of the springs issue from the west slope of Hot Springs
Mountain at a mostly lower level, and originally they drained directly into
Hot Springs Creek. In the area making up what is now Bathhouse Row,
the creek runs north-south along the base of Hot Springs Mountain
through a relatively narrow gorge that is between Hot Springs Mountain
and West Mountain. The remaining floodplain is relatively flat and has
been used as a major thoroughfare since the early 19th century. The
road originally crossed and recrossed Hot Springs Creek several times,
but the channeling of Hot Springs Creek in the latter part of the century
resulted in straightening the road. The limits on the immediate vicinity
posed by the geography only allowed for a Ilinear north-south

development.

Flora and Fauna

Forestation characterizes the flora of the park. The northern slopes of
the ridges and basins provide a suitable habitat for deciduous forest
dominated by oak and hickory. Pines predominate on the south sides of
the ridges. Other shrubs and trees that flourish in this environment
include yaupon, easter hackberry, elm, juniper, dogwood, serviceberry,
redbud, and holly. Ground cover in the spring and summer includes
pinks, verbenas, phlox, spiderworts, golden ragwort, purple cornflower,
rose gentians, asters, butterfly milkweed, and sunflowers. These species

are a few of the various wildflowers found in the ar‘ea.4
A wide variety of animals have lived in the park area over the centuries.

Bison, wapiti, mountain lion, and wolf left the region after the arrival of

European and American settlers. Some of the present-day species near
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the hot springs include squirrel, rabbit, opossum, fox, coyote, skunk,
raccoon, gopher, weasel, mink, rat, frog, and armadillo. Hot Springs
National Park lands lie in the Mississippi flyway, which means migratory
birds, game birds, and waterfowl spend portions of the year in the park

vicinity.5

Hot and humid weather characterizes the climate during the late spring
and summer months, with occasional periods of drought occurring during
late summer. Long falls, mild winters, and early springs with few frosts
and snows mark the seasonal progress of the vyear. This climate
produced a typical southeastern woodland environment conducive to

exploitation by aboriginal people.6

PREHISTORY AT THE HOT SPRINGS

Archeological evidence suggests that during the Paleo-Indian period (circa
12,000 to 8000 B.C.), early humans quarried for novaculite, a dense,
chert-type rock, near the hot springs. Prehistoric peoples discovered
that novaculite rock took a fine serrated edge when worked, making it
valuable for use in a variety of tools and weapons. Lanceolated
novaculite points are found in Paleo-Indian sites in southern portions of

Arkansas along the Ouachita and Red rivers.7

About 8000 B.C., significant environmental changes accompanied the final

melting of the great glacial ice sheets at the end of the Pleistocene

period. Dramatic fluctuations in rainfall and temperature might have
occurred. The modern geographical positions of the major life zones
gradually formed during this period. Perhaps most significant for

prehistoric people, many of the larger Pleistocene fauna (such as the

elephant, horse, camel, and certain species of bison) became extinct.8
The Archaic period (8000 to 1000 B.C.) is characterized by the human

adaptation to these changed environmental conditions. An economy based

on gathering, fishing, and small-game hunting developed, thus marking
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the end of the Paleo-Indian tradition. The Archaic period included a
proliferation of local or regional tool traditions that seem to indicate
adaptations to various environments. Typical artifacts include chipped
and ground stone tools, atlatls, grinding stones, fishhooks, and various
styles of projectile points. Late in the period fully grooved axes and
tubular smoking pipes were added. Ample evidence exists that some of
these tools and projectile points were made from novaculite quarried near
Hot Springs. Novaculite tools from the Hot Springs quarries have been
unearthed in Indian graves and mounds from the shores of the Gulf of

Mexico to the Atlantic Ocean.9

Paleo-Indians and their descendants lived and built mounds along major
waterways such as the Ouachita River (which the Gulpha Creek and Hot
Springs Creek empty into). Various Indian tribes frequented the Hot
Springs and Gulpha area for the novaculite and the water, but no
evidence exists to suggest a significant settlement in the very area of the
Hot Springs. The closest mound building activity took place near where

Gulpha and Hot Springs Creek enter the Ouachita River‘.1o

Around the 18th century the Caddo settled in the area, followed by the
Choctaw, Cherokee, and other tribes in the early 19th century. These
Indians told early white settlers that no tribe claimed the hot springs,
but that all tribes bathed in the healing waters of the springs. The
Indians, most likely, either lay in natural warm water pools or sat in
spring-carved solution channels that were heated by the hot springs
water and acted as vapor baths. The Quapaw lived in the Arkansas
River delta area (Mississippi) and went to the Ouachita area to hunt and
use the springs. In the 19th century the Quapaw were placed on a
reservation southeast of Hot Springs. On August 24, 1818, the Quapaw
ceded land including the Hot Springs to the U.S. and were removed to
the Indian Territory (present-day Oklahoma).11
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EUROPEAN DISCOVERY OF THE HOT SPRINGS

Possible Discovery of the Hot Springs by Soto

After 1492 a number of Spanish expeditions set out to explore the New
World and the interior of North America. In 1528 Panfilo de Narvaez led
an expeditionary force of 400 men in a small fleet from Cuba to Florida.
His fleet anchored in Tampa Bay where the troops disembarked. Narvaez
and his army went inland. The ships waited as long as possible for their
return, but finally departed. Discovering that he had missed his
rendezvous, Narvaez considered several courses of action and finally
decided to march his army inland. After enduring months of starvation,
disease, and Indian attacks, the men returned to the coast and the
surviving 240 men constructed five small boats in which they sailed west
toward Mexico. In late October 1528 a storm wrecked three of the five
boats. Some survivors eventually landed near present-day Galveston,
Texas, while others landed farther along the Texas Islands. After eight
years of wandering throughout the Southwest, four members of the
expedition arrived at the Spanish settlement of Culiacan on the Gulf of
California. One of the survivors, the Spanish nobleman Alvar Nunez
Cabeza de Vaca, went to Mexico City and related his adventures to

authorities. 12

On Vaca's return to Spain, he was invited to Hernando de Soto's home.
Soto had served under Francisco Pizarro in Peru and had returned to
Spain from that expedition a wealthy man. Just three months prior to
Vaca's arrival in Spain, Soto had obtained permission to conquer Florida
from the king of Spain, Charles V. Charles V granted him the title of
governor and captain-general of Cuba and Florida. The king granted
these concessions willingly, with Soto offering to bear all costs for the
conquest. After questioning Vaca, Soto believed that great riches,
comparable to those of the Aztecs and Incas, were his for the taking in
the continent's interior. Confident, Soto left Spain on April 6, 1538,

with a fleet of nine vessels and 600 men.13
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Soto's army arrived in Cuba where they prepared for an assault on the
American wilderness. On May 18, 1539, his armada sailed toward Florida
and landed near Tampa Bay. The conquistadors marched inland in search
of treasures. After 23 months and hundreds of miles, Soto's expedition
arrived at the Mississippi River in April 1541. The Spaniards probably
crossed the river at a point above thirty-five degrees latitude--not far

from the mouth of the Arkansas Ri\/er‘.14

By mid-September 1541 Soto's army reached the Tunica village of Tanico
on the Ouachita River. The expedition remained there until the middle of
October when they moved farther south to establish winter quarters.
Two members of the expedition made references in their diaries to
possible hot springs in the area. A book published in 1557 by the
"Gentleman of Elvas" claimed that near the Tunica village the expedition's
horses drank from a very warm and brackish pool. Diary notes taken by
Soto's private secretary, Rodrigo Ranjel, described hot streams in this
vicinity. These remarks possibly could be the first European description

of the Arkansas hot spr‘ings.15

After leaving the Tunica village, Soto's army wandered through the

Southwest. In April 1542 they again emerged on the banks of the

Mississippi from the west. Soto fell ill and died here on May 21, 1542.16
Luis de Moscoso de Alvarado took command of the ill-fated expedition
after Soto's death. He led the beleaguered force back into the

wilderness, hoping to locate a land route to Mexico. Unable to accomplish
this goal, the army arrived back at the Mississippi above the mouth of
the Arkansas River in December 1542 and established winter camp. They
acquired needed supplies from the local Indians and set about
constructing seven brigantines with which to descend the river. On
July 2, 1543, the Spaniards launched their makeshift crafts along with
some canoes. Shoreline Indian attacks and hazards arising from
navigating down an unknown river punctuated their voyage to the Gulf of
Mexico. Eighteen days later, 311 survivors of the original 600 men
arrived at the mouth of the Mississippi River. After a dangerous coastal

voyage, the remnant of Soto's army reached Mexico on September 10,
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1543. Although the expedition failed to find any material wealth, it left a
legacy of discoveries--including the knowledge of natural hot springs in

what became Arkansas. Lt

Spanish and French Exploration and Claims after the Soto Expedition

The failure of Soto's expedition delayed further Spanish attempts to
penetrate the American wilderness for 10 years. In 1553 the king of
Spain, angered by Indian attacks on Spanish sailors who were wrecked
along the Florida coast, directed the organization of a military campaign
to chastise the tribesmen. Don Tristan de Luna y Arrellano assembled
and equipped an expedition of 1,500 men for that purpose. The
expedition failed and this was the last significant attempt by the Spanish
to explore and exploit the area of North America drained by the

Mississippi River‘.18

French explorers undertook the next sustained effort at exploration of the
region. French exploration centered on finding a water route from the
Great Lakes to the sea through the interior of North America. During
one exploration, Rene Robert Cavelier, Sieur de la Salle, claimed the
lands drained by the Mississippi for France on April 9, 1682. He named
it Louisiana in honor of French King Louis XIV. La Salle tried to
establish a colony at the mouth of the Mississippi, but was unsuccessful.
A French expedition under Pierre Le Moyne, Sieur d'lberville, and Jean
Baptiste le Moyne, Sieur de Bienville |l, established a settlement near the
mouth of the Mississippi in 1699, which they named Biloxi (Fort

Maurepas). 19

Even before the founding of Biloxi, Iberville had traveled up the
Mississippi to the vicinity of the confluence of Red River. There he
conferred with the Tunica chief to form an alliance between the Tunicas
and the French. Contacts continued between these two groups and,
perhaps in this manner, the French learned about the hot springs near
the Ouachita River. In 1833 an early American settler, Hiram

Whittington, reported a local oral tradition that French hunters had

25



discovered hot springs around 1733. A few of the French settlers on the
Mississippi River possibly visited and bathed in the hot springs before

the formal transfer of Louisiana to Spain in 1767.20

A vacillating French foreign policy, an unstable French monarchy, and a
series of ruinous colonial' wars hindered the French effort to explore and
settle Louisiana. The outbreak of the Seven Years' War in 1755, known
in North America as the French and Indian War, concluded in 1763 with
the expulsion of the French from North America. In 1762 France
persuaded Spain to enter the conflict, promising the cession to Spain of
Louisiana lands on the west bank of the Mississippi and those lands on
the east bank below Bayou Manchac, which included New Orleans. The
Treaty of Fontainebleau in 1762 formalized this agreement. The Treaty of
Paris in 1763 further clarified the military and diplomatic aspects of the
agreement. Great Britain received the provinces of East and West Florida
from Spain in exchange for La Habana, Cuba, which the British had
captured during the war. Great Britain also obtained from France that
portion of Louisiana lying east of the Mississippi and north of Bayou
Manchac to a point on the east bank of the Mississippi above Natchez.
Spain received from France those sections of Louisiana described in the

Treaty of Fontainebleau. 2l

In March 1766 Spanish officials arrived in New Orleans to take possession
of Louisiana from the French. The formal transfer of the colony from
France to Spain occurred on January 20, 1767. Colonial unrest kept the

Spanish authorities from exercising full control over the colony until
22
1770.

During the Spanish occupation, Don Juan Filhiol, following instructions
from the Spanish Louisiana governor, conducted an exploration of the
upper parts of the Ouachita River. Near the river he found hot springs
coming from the ground, boiling and clear. These hot springs cooled as
they mingled with the waters of cooler mountain streams in the area. In
December of 1787, Filhiol petitioned the Spanish government for a land

grant for an area occupied by these spr‘ings.23
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AMERICAN EXPLORATION AND SETTLEMENT

The Hunter and Dunbar Expedition

The Treaty of Paris of 1783, which formally ended hostilities of the
American Revolution, left several important matters unresolved. The
newly independent American colonies wanted the right to freely navigate
the Mississippi. Also, the precise demarcation between the Spanish
provinces of Louisiana and the Floridas on the one hand and the United
States on the other needed to be determined. Before the American
Revolution, Great Britain and Spain had conflicting boundary claims. The
Treaty of San Lorenzo in 1795 between the United States and Spain
established a new boundary between these two countries at the
thirty-first parallel on the south and the Mississippi on the west. The
treaty further guaranteed the United States the right to navigate the

Mississippi and to deposit goods in New Orleans.

This agreement did not satisfy American desires for greater control of the
lower Mississippi, and negotiations continued between the two countries.
The Spanish king, in the secret Treaty of San lldefonso on October 1,
1800, ceded Louisiana back to France. The Treaty of Madrid on
March 21, 1801, reconfirmed this agreement. Actual transfer of Louisiana

from Spain to France occurred on November 30, 1803.24

In light of these developments, President Thomas Jefferson instructed his
minister to Paris, Robert R. Livingston, to negotiate with French Emperor
Napoleon Bonaparte for the purchase of Louisiana. Livingston set out for
France in March 1803, with permission to offer up to $10 million for the
purchase of New Orleans and the Floridas. (Jefferson erroneously
believed that Spain had ceded the Floridas as well as Louisiana to
Napoleon.) The French emperor met the American envoy and offered to
sell all the Louisiana Territory to the United States for $15 million, with
the proviso that France maintain trading privileges with Louisiana for 10
years following the transfer. On April 30, 1803, Livingston accepted the
proposal and Napoleon ratified the treaty. The United States Congress
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ratified the agreement on May 22, 1803. On December 20, 1803, the
French, represented by Pierre de Laussat, formally turned over the
Louisiana Territory to the United States Territorial Governor William C.C.

C!aibor‘ne.25

President Thomas Jefferson requested that Congress fund several
expeditions into the newly acquired Louisiana Territory. Jefferson wrote
to his friend William Dunbar of Natchez, asking him to lead the expedition
planned for the region of the Red and Arkansas rivers. Dunbar agreed
to plan and prepare the expedition, but requested that President
Jefferson send a younger scientist to travel with the expedition as he was
too old for such a strenuous undertaking. Jefferson selected Doctor
George Hunter from Philadelphia for this task. The lack of adequate
government funding and feared Spanish and Indian hostilities forced the
expedition to reduce the original scope of exploration. Dunbar suggested
that they undertake a more modest trip to the hot springs near the
Ouachita River. He commented that these spring waters reputedly could
cure diseases. Dunbar knew of several paralytic people who traveled
from the Natchez area to these hot springs in hopes of recovery.
President Jefferson agreed, and Dunbar decided to accompany the

expedition. 26

While the Hunter-Dunbar expedition was in preparation, Joseph Macrery
and a small party from Natchez visited the hot springs during the summer
months of 1804. Macrery said he witnessed volcanic activity near the
spring and observed molten rock. These findings remained unconfirmed
by later explorers--with one exception. Timothy Flint, during his visit
to the area in the 1820s, claimed to hear noises like those accompanying
volcanic eruptions in the mountains around Hot Springs. Macrery and

Flint believed that the volcanic activity heated the spring water‘s.27

On October 16, 1804, the Hunter-Dunbar expedition left Natchez for the
hot springs with a small military escort and two local guides. The
military escort was a lieutenant, a sergeant, and 12 men. This small

expedition rowed a 23-oared boat up the Mississippi to the Red River and
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continued up Red River to Black River and into the Ouachita River. The
shallow water hampered the progress of the boat, which was abandoned in
favor of another one to get over the shallows. The expedition arrived in
the vicinity of the springs on December 6, 1804, and the next day

traveled to the hot spr‘ings.28

Dunbar observed: "We found at the Hot-Springs an Open Log-Cabin and
a few huts of split boards, all calculated for summer encampment, & which
have been erected by persons resorting to the Springs for the recovery
of their health.“29 On December 10, Dunbar conducted a detailed survey
of the hot springs. He described six principal springs located either in
the creek bed or on the east side of the creek. The temperatures in
these springs ranged from 148° to 150° Fahrenheit. Dunbar found that in

the cooler months vapor from the hot springs floated above the cr‘eek.30

The expedition spent several more weeks in scientific investigation of the
springs. They discovered one kind of algae and one kind of mollusk
living in the hot springs. Their local guides told tales of how the hot
springs relieved the stiffness from rheumatism and other diseases of the
joints. At the end of December the expedition departed. Shortly after
returning to Natchez, Dunbar and Hunter sent a report of their

observations to President Jeffer‘son.31

Other Early Accounts of the Hot Springs and Settlement

Lieutenant Zebulon Montgomery Pike led an expedition up the Arkansas
River to the Rocky Mountains in 1806. There he dispatched Lieutenant
James B. Wilkerson to return down the Arkansas River on a mapping
expedition. Pike headed south where he was apprehended by Mexican
officials and detained for a year. Wilkerson arrived in Arkansas Post on

January 9, 1807. The maps that he drew located the hot springs sites.32

About 1807 Jean Emmanuel Prudhomme, a plantation owner, arrived at the

hot springs and constructed a cabin. He came there to regain his health.
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After two years of bathing in the hot water and a diet of local foods, he

had fully regained his health and returned home to Louisiana.33

Visitors continued to come during the summer months to bathe in the hot
waters. These early visitors built cabins or sheds for protection from
the weather and hired local hunters to supply their camps with food.
John Perciful (also known as Percifull or Percival) settled in the area and
made a living selling food to the visitors and renting cabins for the
summer months. By 1814 more than 20 summer shelters could be found in
the valley, and two years later maps depicted trails from the Mississippi

to the hot spr‘ings.34

Major Stephen H. Long of the Army's topographical engineers visited the
area in January of 1818. He found approximately 60 hot springs in the
vicinity of Hot Springs Mountain and estimated that the springs issued
more than 1,000 gallons a minute. Long found that water in the hottest
springs could be used for brewing tea or cooking meat or eggs.35 The
community around the hot springs consisted of 14 or 15 primitive cabins,
which Long found unoccupied except for one. He believed these cabins

to be primarily for summer habitation.36

Thomas Nuttall, an English naturalist, visited near the hot springs in May
1819. He wrote that someday the place would become a resort for people
from the Midwest and South. Nuttall learned from Long that a rude
structure for taking steam baths stood by one of the springs and that the
springs varied in temperature from 86° to 150° Fahrenheit. That same
year an Arkansan visited the springs and found a few cabins there for
visitors. He observed that one of the other visitors gave daily lectures

on the origin and medical benefits of the hot springs.

In 1820 a party from Stephen Long's expedition to the Rocky Mountains
stopped on their way back east to examine the hot springs. They found
a Doctor Wilson at the springs dispensing medical advice on the use of
the hot waters. This party observed that the baths consisted of a few

excavations in the rocks. Bathers regulated the flow of hot water to suit
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their pleasure. That same year Joseph Mellard (also referred to as
Millard) built a double log cabin, which served as the first hotel for the

area. He gave up this business in 1826 or 1827.38

The year-round population around the hot springs remained small, with
the 1820 census listing only 153 individuals in the Hot Springs township
of Arkansas Territory. Development occurred slowly during the 1820s,
with a number of cabins being erected near the hot springs. Indians
continued to come during the spring and early summer to bathe in the
warm water pools. A visitor to the springs in 1827 found an operating
tavern and observed that many people came to the springs seeking cures
for liver, spleen, and joint diseases. In 1828 Lucovicus Belding took
over the vacant Perciful's cabins and constructed a hotel for visitors.
Belding's hotel offered the amenities of good meals, clean linen, and
silverware to entice visitors. The community around the hot springs

became known as Thermopolis for a short period of time.39

One visitor to the springs in 1829 praised the benefit of the springs in

the following manner:

They [the hot springs] have produced extraordinary cures in
rheumatism, paralysis, liver complaint, enlargement of the
spleen, eruptions, pulmonary complaints, obstructions and
chronic disorders of every kind.

Where the system has been saturated with mercury which has
been imperfectly purged out, they will salivate again after a
great lapse of time carry off the mercury. 4(5)Id and fixed
venereal taints are also eradicated by their use.

He found the bathing accommodations less praiseworthy and commented:

The accommodations for using the water are so entirely deficient
that it would not be wonderful if but little was effected by
them. The sweat house is rudely constructed with boards
which but partially exclude the air; and the mouth of it is
stopped by a blanket.
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The patient has to come intgnthe open air to dry himself, hurry
on his clothes and go home.

During the next few years improvements came slowly, with Asa Thompson
constructing the first bathhouse in 1830. It was a simple log building
with one wooden tub near the sweat bath. People traveled either by
steamboat from New Orleans to Little Rock and then overland to Hot
Springs or by trail from the Mississippi to the springs. The construction
of a second log bathhouse with wooden tubs occurred before 1832. These
bathing facilities were near the present-day Arlington Lawn and Hale
Bathhouse. In addition to the bathhouses, several settlers began using

their cabins as stores that served visitor‘s.42

Transfer of the Hot Springs to the United States Government in 1832

By the late 1820s people in Arkansas and elsewhere were aware of the
value of the hot springs. John Pope, the Arkansas territorial governor
in 1829, requested the United States Congress to erect at Hot Springs a
building to accommodate the sick and either donate or lease the structure
to the territory. The Congress took no action on this proposal. In 1830
Ambrose H. Sevier, Arkansas territorial representative, sent a letter to

the editor of the Arkansas Gazette suggesting that the Arkansas

Territorial Assembly may wish to lease the hot springs and dispense the
proceeds to the needy. The territorial assembly did not act on this

proposal until 1832 when the United States Congress passed superseding

Iegislation.43

In 1832 Sevier introduced a bill in Congress stating:

Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Representatives that
the Hot Springs in Arkansas Territory, together with four
sections of land with the springs, as near the center as may
be, are hereby reserved and set apart for future disposal by
the United States Government, and are not to be entered,
pr‘eempted4 or appropriated for any purpose or purposes
whatever.
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This bill, in slightly modified form, passed Congress and became law on
April 20, 1832. Little opposition arose to the proposal in either the

House of Representatives or the Senate. The Arkansas Gazette credited

Sevier for his efforts to get the bill passed. The next year the Arkansas
Territorial Assembly requested Congress to improve the navigable water
routes to Hot Springs to aid the hundreds of invalids who made their way

to the springs each year. Congress took no action on the r‘equest.45

The question of state or federal ownership of the hot springs remained
open for the next several years. In 1836 the Arkansas Constitutional
Convention debated a proposal to request the federal government return
the hot springs to the state for disposition. The convention rejected the

proposal and the springs remained under federal contr‘ol.46

Bathhouse Row in the 1830s

The same year that the United States Congress acted to place the hot
springs under federal control, some 400 people traveled to the springs in
hopes of restoring their health. A few cabins--used as residences,
stores, and boarding houses--were scattered around the springs. The
visitors usually came in the spring and remained until fall before

departing to their homes in the south and border states.47

In 1833 the United States government awarded a mail contract, which
stipulated that postal service to Hot Springs be conducted on a weekly
basis. George W. Featherstonhaugh, an English adventurer and scientist,
arrived in Hot Springs in December 1834. He observed the local

; , 2 . : 48
community consisted of four small cabins with one serving as a store.

Featherstonhaugh described his own accommodations at Hot Springs as

follows:

It [the cabin] had a roof to it as well as a little portico, as a
defense against the rays of the sun, but this was literally all
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that it had, for not an article of furniture, was there either in
the shape of table or chair. The floor was formed of boards
roughly and unevenly hewn, and, unfortunately, some of them
wanting. Being reckoned, however, the best lodging in the
place, we made the best of it, and through our new friends got
skins, blankets, and other appliances to serve as bedding. We
next laid in firewood and constructed a kind of table, so that
when we succeeded in borrowing two old chairs, we looked with
some satisfaction upon our new attempt at housekeeping. We
were sure at any rate of being alone, and of being out of reach
of filth of every kind; in fact it was almost as desirable as
being in the woods, and had the advantage of shelter. How
invalids contrive to be comfortable, who come to this ragged
place, | cannot image, vyet | under‘stan& that ten or a dozen
people are often crammed into this room.

Visitors in 1835 found two log stores open for business. These early
tourists stayed in cabins or tents and bathed in pools or in small
bathhouses. A few of the pools contained wooden curbing and hollowed
out gum logs for bathtubs. A hack service offered visitors transportation
from Little Rock to Hot Springs. The next year a stage line began
operations. The improvement in public accessibility resulted in increased
visitation and additional bathing facilities. By the end of the decade,
travelers reported five bathhouses which provided tub and sweat baths

standing near the springs.

Lack of more sophisticated technologies limited Hot Springs' first buildings
to simple, primitive structures. Early builders squared logs and split
planks for the handcrafted structures. This type of rugged frontier
construction continued until about 1835, when a sawmill made cut lumber
readily available for building.51 The introduction of the sawmill resulted
in a radical change in local architecture. Builders began to add
architectural elements and decorative details which would have been

difficult or virtually impossible to build without the new technology.

The addition of new functions in the settlement also affected changes to
the architectural evolution of Hot Springs. The first small structures
served simple, utilitarian purposes--residences, liveries, hotels, boarding

houses. As larger numbers of people came to the springs, the hotels
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expanded operations to provide more for their guests than just a bed to
sleep in at night. One entrepreneur constructed a '"house of
entertainment" for guests' amusement.52 The new structures were larger
than their predecessors, and more of them appeared to serve the

burgeoning spa industry.

Bathhouse Row in the 1840s and 1850s

In the 1840s the vapor bath still operated. Here the bather sat in a
small wooden enclosure over a spring with the steam rising from below
through the wooden floor planks. Most bathers did not bother obtaining
medical advice, but they preferred prescribing their own treatments.
Occasionally, a person calling himself a medical doctor came to the springs
and gave questionable medical consultation. The majority of people
coming to the hot springs were men; however, a few women sought the

benefits of the hot water'.53

During the 1840s the community of Hot Springs continued to grow, with
saloons, boardinghouses, and hotels constructed to accommodate the
increased visitation. The stage line began making trips to Hot Springs
from Little Rock three times a week instead of twice. The trip took a
day and a half and cost $6 one way. Road improvements, later, reduced

the stage time to between 10 and 12 hour‘s.54

The community of Hot Springs expanded in the 1850s. William H.
Hammond became the first permanent physician in Hot Springs in 1850.
The next year the people of Hot Springs incorporated the settlement as a
city. An estimated 3,000 visitors from throughout the South, Midwest,
and East traveled to the community in 1854. Each proprietor of the newly
constructed hotels claimed that his hotel represented the most modern and

. . 55
luxurious in town.

At the same time the primitive bathhouse technology was becoming slightly

more advanced. John C. Hale arrived in Hot Springs in 1838, and by
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1854 he had erected a hotel and updated a large frame bathhouse. He
built wooden troughs that carried water directly from one of the springs
to a tank at the rear of his bathhouse, undoubtedly similar to the system
shown in figure 1. Inside, the bather entered a dressing room,
disrobed, and then proceeded to the bathroom where he immersed himself
in a small wooden tub. The tub was equipped with a cold water spout
and a rope controlling the hot spring water spout from the tank. The
bather let in as much hot water as he wanted. When he was done
bathing, he went to a vapor room--most likely a room built over a thermal
spring with space between the floorboards where the vapor naturally
rose--and then to a simple shower and back to the dressing r‘oom.56 At
least one bathhouse had a small "ladies department" as shown in figure 2.
Those who could not afford bathhouse fees still immersed themselves in
the stream (fig. 3), and drinking the waters directly from the spring

(figs. 4 and 5) remained a most popular pastime.

During the late 1850s the well-established settlement continued to grow.
Physically limited by the topography, the north-south linear development
sat wedged along Hot Springs Creek between West Mountain and Hot
Springs Mountain. On the east side of the creek adjacent to the springs,
seven bathhouses and three drinking pavilions had individual access
bridges over the creek so that patrons could reach the facilities. On the
west side of the creek, more businesses opened their doors--doctors'
offices, grocery stores, and dry good stores. Some of the bathhouses
and hotels began year-round operations. Hotels continued to increase
their patronage by adding ice-cream and soda fountains and drinking and

billiard saloons.s7
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CHAPTER 3: THE EVOLUTION OF BATHING AND MEDICAL PRACTICES
AT HOT SPRINGS IN THE 19TH AND 20TH CENTURIES

BATHING PRACTICES OVER THE YEARS

Bathing Procedures in the 19th Century

The earliest bathing procedure consisted of merely reclining in natural
pools of hot springs and cool creek water for long periods of time. This
procedure continued until the bather was cured or left the hot springs.
In 1804 a member of the Hunter and Dunbar expedition told how he lay in
Hot Springs Creek with a blanket over himself and drank hot water until
he broke out in a sweat. He then plunged into cold water, got out, and
dried himself off. After resting for a while, he repeated the procedure.
Usually, he took three baths a day for three days and rested for a day
or two after the treatment; then he repeated the process. After two
weeks he felt strong enough to join his companions in a hunting

expedition. L

During the 1820s crude vapor baths stood over the springs, and bathers
breathed in the vapors for extended periods of time. A bather coming to
the hot springs either set his own regimen of vapor and pool baths or
took the advice from other bathers. Some patrons spent only a few hours

in the hot water; others lay in Hot Spring Creek day and night.2

During the 1830s a few of the bathhouses offered patrons wooden tubs.
A visitor to a bathhouse in 1834 found the building divided into two
portions. The first served as a place to undress; the second room,
constructed over a hot springs, consisted of benches placed over a floor
of 2-inch-wide boards set 2 inches apart. Steam from the springs rose
through these separations. A person remained in this steam room for 30
to 40 minutes and received a dousing with cold water when he reentered
the dressing room. After taking this steam bath in the morning, the
bather wusually took a water bath in a tub or the creek during the

after‘noor‘n.3
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One writer on the benefits of the hot springs wrote in 1841 that two
vapor baths were required each day, the first coming before breakfast.
He warned that one should neither stay in the bath longer than 15
minutes nor in water over 104 degrees. Some individuals did not take the
entire bath, but placed their affected arms or legs in a pool or in
rushing water to get relief. Other advice in area newspapers included
the assertion that the best times to visit the hot springs were from March
1 to July 1 and from September 1 to January 1. Another authority
recommended that after one or two months of bathing a respite of some

time was necessary before continuing with the baths.4

Starting in the 1850s physicians began taking up permanent residence in
Hot Springs, although many visitors did without their services. By the
late 1850s a series of troughs brought the water to the bather as he
reclined in a wooden tub. A series of levers and wooden blocks released
hot and cold water until the desired temperatures were achieved. Also
showers came into use, which allowed hot water to cascade down on the
bather from above and, preferably, on that portion of the body needing
treatment. During the bath the bather drank thermal water as part of
the cure. Bathers remained in Hot Springs from one week to two months
taking baths.5

A few changes occurred in the bathing regimen after the Civil War. Each
bather brought two towels, a flannel bathing suit, a tin cup, and a
bucket capable of holding two quarts of hot water to the bathhouse.
Bathers undressed in one room and proceeded to another room to take a
tub bath for 15 to 20 minutes. By the 1870s some bathhouses
recommended only three minutes for the hot bath, and a three-minute
timer stood by the tub. Next came the steam bath in which the bathers
remained for as long as they could stand the heat--usually six to eight
minutes. During the bathing regimen, they constantly drank the hot
water. After the steam bath, they went back to the dressing room where
a bath attendant wrapped them in blankets. Then they walked back to
their hotel or boardinghouses where they rested for 30 minutes under the
blankets. The bathers were warned not to fall asleep as this was

considered dangerous. 0
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Also popular was a spring known as Ral Hole. Here the hot water pool
had a mud bottom and was channeled to a lower pool for cooling. The
bathers took off their clothes in the woods nearby and entered the lower
pool slowly, going in deeper as they got used to the water temperature.
After 10 to 20 minutes they returned to the bank and plastered
themselves with mud. They lay for several hours with the mud pack on
before returning to the pool and washing themselves off. Sometimes 20
people crowded into this pool for a bath. Men used the pool during the

afternoon and women bathed there in the morning.

By the mid-1870s the bathing regimen became more diverse, and
physicians prescribed various types of baths for patients. Physicians
prescribed specific times and manners for a person to bathe, steam, and
lie in pack blankets. Visitors were cautioned against taking the water
without a doctor's advice. The period of time for tub baths became six
to 10 minutes and the time in the steam bath shortened to two minutes;
only one bath regimen took place each day. The water mixture for the

tub baths consisted of two parts cold water to one part hot water‘.8

In 1878 the first superintendent at Hot Springs, Benjamin Kelley,
established regulations for bathing. Kelley closed Ral Hole for bathing,
and later the first Government Free Bathhouse operated at the site. Also
he recorded the types of tubs in use at Hot Springs. His 1881 inventory
of bathhouse equipment lists zinc-, slate-, iron-, wood-, and
copper-trimmed tubs in use during the bathing regimen. Two years later
porcelain tubs were in use at a few bathhouses. In addition, the

bathhouses offered electric baths and mercurial vapor ba’chs.9

During the 1880s a few of the open springs gradually dried up. Corn
Hole, a popular spring for people to soak their feet, dried up in 1882,
and government officials covered over the mudhole. Other open springs
were either covered over by the government or the bathhouse owners to

prevent their pollution. L
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The bathhouses began using vapor cabinets around 1884. The bather sat
in the cabinet with the lid closing tightly around the neck. Vapor from
the hot water rose through the floor of the cabinet. Most of the
bathhouse bathing attendants kept the temperature of  these cabinets
around 110 degrees and tub baths at 98 degrees. A few bathhouses
preferred to keep the vapor baths at more than 130 degrees. The bather
sat in the cabinet from 10 to 20 minutes. The closed lid prevented the
steam from going into the bather's lungs. The bather also received a
douche of hot water poured or sprayed on an affected area of the body.
This wusually occurred with the bather in the tub. Physicians
recommended that bathers take the baths early in the morning and on an
empty stomach.11 Toward the end of the 1880s the bathhouses offered
Russian and Turkish baths, and in the 1890s German needle baths and
Scotch douches were added to the types of water treatment available. By
this time bathhouses offered separate bathing facilities for men and
women. Earlier, men and women had bathed at different times. Another
change in the bathing regimen was the use of a cooling room for bathers

to cool down and rest after completing their baths.12

Most of the bathhouses opened each day seven days a week. They
offered bathers the option of purchasing tickets for one, five, 10, or 21
baths. Twenty-one baths, which took three weeks to complete, were

considered appropriate for one stay in American spas.13

Government regulation of the bathhouses controlled the bathing regimen in
only the broadest manner. These regulations set the manner and sale of
bath tickets, the sanitary conditions of the bathhouses, and the
economical use of the thermal water by the bathhouses. Other procedures
concerning the bathing regimen were left to the judgment of the

14
lessees.

At the end of the 19th century the bathhouses all used porcelain-lined or
solid porcelain tubs. Marble or wooden partitions separated individual
dressing stalls. Besides the bathing facilities, some bathhouses contained

reading, writing, massage, gymnasium, and smoking rooms. These
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bathhouses were replaced by the present ones on Bathhouse Row at the

beginning of the 20th centur‘y.15

Bathing Procedures in the 20th Century

At the beginning of the 20th century Superintendent Eisele acted to
increase government control over the bathing regimen. A federal board
of medical commissioners inspected the bathhouses in 1903 and found a
number of unsanitary conditions. The board found that the laundry
facilities of the bathhouses were inadequate to sterilize the towels and
robes, that syphilitic patients and others drank hot water from the same
glasses, that toilets were not properly cleaned after use by patients
suffering from venereal diseases, and that bath attendants passed

contagious diseases from one bather to the next.16

Superintendent Eisele believed the report might be hypercritical of the
conditions of the bathhouses, but he planned to take action on these
matters. In February 1903 the Arkansas state legislature passed an act
granting jurisdiction over a portion of the Hot Springs Reservation to the
federal government. Eisele took advantage of this act to develop and
promulgate new regulations for the bathhouses. These regulations set the
responsibility and fees collected by the bath attendants, stipulated that
bathers furnish bath towels and robes, and required the bathhouses to
keep bathing facilities and toilets in a sanitary condition. In addition,
the regulations required the bathhouses to provide a safe place for

bathers' jewelry, money, and other valuables.17

In 1904 Superintendent Eisele changed the procedure of collecting fees
because bathers tended to avoid paying the attendants. The
superintendent permitted the bathhouses to collect the attendants' fees
when bathers purchased their bath tickets. Eisele believed that the
practice of doctors directing patients to particular bath attendants
distributed the work load unevenly. He ordered doctors not to specify

one particular bath attendant for their patients. This practice gradually
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ended, but many bathers requested the same bath attendant year after

18
year.

During the first decade of the 20th century several changes occurred in
the bathing regimen. The bathhouses began employing masseurs,
chiropodists, and mercury rubbers. Also, the bath attendants began
using bath mitts during the tub portion of the bath. The patient drank
a glass of hot water at the beginning of his tub bath, and then the
attendant rubbed the bather down with a bath mitt and soap. The bather

received another glass of water and lay down in the tub for a bath.19

The demolition of the old bathhouses and construction of the new ones
during the first two decades of the century resulted in changes to the
bathing regimen. The Maurice Bathhouse claimed to have 300 dressing
rooms, extra-large tubs, and individual vapor, shower, and douche
rooms. After the bath, the bather rested in a 40-foot by 40-foot lounge
that was separate from the bath area. The Maurice offered a sun parlor,
gymnasium, private rooms, and a hydrotherapy room. The Maurice also
had a beauty parlor. It had "sunglow" glass to impart a healthy color to
the skin and a gigantic mirror. Separate facilities were available for men
and women. The bather could take electric light cabinet, Sitz, Nauheim,

and Turkish baths. Other bathhouses operated similar 1’acilities.20

By 1912 the government had instituted programs to test both physicians
and bathhouse attendants as to their fitness in their professions. The
superintendent required the bathhouse attendants to submit to a physical
examination before they would be allowed to work. Masseurs and mercury
rubbers were required to register their qualifications with reservation
officials. The superintendent amended the rule stipulating that bathers
furnish their own bathrobes, and the bathhouses were required to supply
bathers with sheets, which was considered more sanitary. Reservation
officials frequently inspected the bathhouses during bathing hours to
check on sanitary conditions. Women's sections were inspected after the

close of business.21
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In addition to these regulations, bathhouse managers were required to

keep the following information:

A complete daily report is rendered by the manager of each
bathhouse, showing the name, home and |local address,
attendant, and doctor, if any, of each purchaser of a bath
ticket, together with the total number of baths given each day,
supplemented by a sworn monthly statement of the business of
the bathhouse, and then at the end of each fiscal year a sworn
annual statement is submitted by each bathhouse and the
Arlington Hotel, showing the total receipts, itemized
expenditures, and net profits for the fiscal year just closed; all
the monthly and annual reports are carefully checked
immediately upon receipt, and any discrepancies discovered are
calledzéo the attention of the lessee or manager and corrected at
once.

Several bathhouses during the 1920s found an increasing demand for
larger and more diverse facilities. They enlarged the women's bathing
facilities to meet the needs of that growing clientele. They updated the
men's gymnasium by providing it with new exercise equipment such as

barbells, Indian clubs, and punching bags.23

Although the bathhouses offered many amenities, the bathers still
furnished their own bath mitts, towels, and blankets. The bathhouses
laundered the towels and blankets and kept an extra supply for those
customers who arrived without their own. The bathhouses furnished
sheets. All sheets and towels were used only once before being
laundered. The bathhouse managers kept close supervision over the use
of these items because the bathhouses operated on Saturdays, Sundays,

and one-half day on most holidays--when laundry services were closed.24

Government regulation modified the bathing procedures slightly during the
1930s. The tub bath could not take more than 20 minutes and the shower
no more than 90 seconds. Also the Maurice and Fordyce bathhouse
managers asked for and received permission to construct hydrotherapy
pools. The Maurice Bathhouse constructed a pool in the basement of the
bathhouse in 1932, and the Fordyce Bathhouse opened a Hubbard
Currence tub in 1939.25

51



In the 1930s and 1940s park officials continued to conduct training
courses for bath attendants and publish lists of registered physicians.
Bath attendants received a course of instruction followed by an
examination before they could work in one of the bathhouses. In
addition, they took monthly physical examinations to make sure that
patrons were not exposed to contagious diseases. A federal registration
board gave a written exam to any doctor wishing to prescribe bathing in
Hot Springs. This was done to ensure the quality of medical treatment in

the spa community. 2h

Superintendent Preston P. Patraw set the following procedures for the

bathing regimen:

Maximum Permitted Temperatures Time
Bath, tub. " 100 20 min.
(Dr‘lnk 1 or more cups of water)
Douche, to affected part . . . 105 1T min.
Douche, vaginal . . . . 102 3 min.
Vapor, head-in. 2 min.
(Only when under constant attentlon of
attendant)
or
head-out . 5 min.
(Apply cold sponge to head if desnr'ed)
Pack Room . 30 min.

(Drink 1 or more cups of water)
Packs--wet, hot or cold
to affected parts : 15 min.
(Change every 3 to 5 min.; not more
than 3 changes permitted)
Bath, sitz. . . 110 10 min.
(No internal water treatment permitted
while in sitz bath)
Shower and Needle
after pack . 1T min.
(Begin at 98 degr‘ees and r‘educe to
90 degrees)

Cooling Room . . . . . 60 min.27

The actual bathing regimen consisted of an individual entering the
bathhouse and going to the purchasing counter. The patient purchased a

ticket, stored valuables, and gave the doctor's bathing instructions to the
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counter person. The bathing instructions were passed on to the
attendant and the bather was shown to a changing room to undress.
After undressing and going into the bath room, the bather immersed
himself in a tub of hot water between 96 and 98 degrees Fahrenheit. The
bath attendant carefully watched a thermometer to keep the temperature
constant and gradually raised it to 99 degrees. While in the tub, the
patient drank warm water and received a rub with the bath mitt, which
had coarse fiber on one side to stimulate the skin. Upon removal from
the tub, the patient spent a short time in a vapor cabinet and sitz bath
if prescribed by the physician. Next, the bather proceeded to the
115-degree pack room, after which he went to the cooling room for a

tepid needle shower and then a light massage and alcohol r‘ub.28

During the next few years, a number of small changes occurred. In 1944
the bathhouse managers requested and received permission to furnish all
towels for bathing. The next year the bathhouse managers decided to
close on Sundays. In 1946 the Quapaw Bathhouse constructed a small
laundry in the basement to wash towels, sheets, and other items
connected with the bathing operations. Soon most of the other

bathhouses began to operate Iaundr‘ies.29

In the late 1950s and early 1960s the bathhouses began installing
whirlpool equipment on their bathtubs. This equipment moved the warm
water rapidly around the bather to provide a more relaxing bathing
experience and relief for muscles and joints. Also, some bathhouses
began changing from the traditional bath fee schedule of one, seven, 14,
or 21 baths to one, six, 12, or 18 baths.30

The bathing regimen gradually changed, with doctors' prescriptions being
replaced by a generic one recommended by the park. In 1980 John

Bannon Albright, a travel reporter for the New York Times, took a bath

in the following manner. He spent 20 minutes in the bathtub and then
received a rubbing with a bath mitt. Next he spent two minutes in a
steam bath and 15 minutes wrapped with hot packs. Finally he rested in

a cooling room for 20 to 30 minutes before dressing. These procedures
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are representative of the bathing regimen in the 19805.31 All bathhouses

are supposed to offer showers, steam cabinets, and sitz baths.

MEDICINAL ASPECTS OF BATHING

Joint and Skin Disease Treatment

Newspaper accounts from the 1820s describe people who were suffering
from rheumatism coming or being carried to the hot springs. These
people found that soaking in the thermal water relieved their stiffness.

One writer describes one such case in the following way:

For the rheumatism it is perfectly specific--the time requisite
for cure depends on the standing and violence of the attack.
To give you some well authenticated instances, a man of the
name of Dean was brought to the springs in 1827, in a wagon,
who had been incapable of motion for three months--in six
weeks time he completely recovered, and at an 3%ection held at
the time made one of the hardest kind of fights.

By the 1840s patients took vapor and tub baths to cure their stiff joints.
One patient who threw away his crutches after seven days of bathing
claimed that the ideal water temperature for a cure was between 95 and
100 degrees. Hot douches became popular in the 1850s. This consisted
of a hot stream of water being focused on a specific part of the body,
such as a leg or shoulder, for half an hour or longer. Some bathers
complained that after their first bath the rheumatic pain spread
throughout their body and disappeared only after a few weeks of bathing.
Scientific experts claimed that the baths cured joint diseases by

stimulating the blood to circulate faster and clean out dead and poisonous

materials around the joints. Skeptics claimed that the cure mainly

consisted of people relaxing at Hot Springs and believing they would be
33

cured.
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By the 1870s the rheumatic or arthritic patrons who came to Hot Springs
took the standard tub and steam bath regimen to effect a cure. One
doctor in Hot Springs used a vapor bath through which electricity passed
to benefit sufferers of rheumatism, sciatica, paralysis, and neuralgia.
Several contemporary doctors claimed that the natural electric qualities of

the water promoted the cure of joint diseases.34

The procedure for treating rheumatism and other joint diseases changed
slightly in the 1880s as physicians began prescribing medicine such as
quinine and benzoate of lithia along with the baths. One Hot Springs
physician found the thermal waters of little value for the relief of
rheumatic gout or rheumatic arthritis; other physicians highly
recommended the water for those ailments. Hot Springs physicians

generally agreed that the hot waters relieved the pain of gonorrheal

rheumatism. Unknown to 19th century physicians, this relief provided
only a temporary respite from the disease. People did best at Hot
Springs when they arrived in a robust condition before the water
tr‘eatment.35

Rheumatism ranked second to syphilis in the reasons why people came to
Hot Springs in 1885. Many testimonials from the departure register of
the Government Free Bathhouse describe how an invalid came to the
springs crippled and left in good health. Doctors claimed that the hot

water stimulated all bodily functions and this effected the cur‘e.36

During the 1890s the treatment of rheumatism changed slightly. Patients
drank large quantities of hot water because physicians believed this would
stimulate the flow of bodily fluids. Physicians claimed that the hot water
enlarged the blood vessels, promoting the secretion of poisonous wastes
within the body. Doctors discovered that rheumatism was better treated

after the inflammatory stage passed.37
The first decade of the 20th century resulted in two discoveries that

bolstered Hot Springs' claim to curing rheumatism. First came the

discovery of traces of lithium in the thermal water. This chemical helped
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relieve the suffering of gouty and rheumatic persons. Second, testing of
the thermal waters in 1904 by Dr. Robert Boltwood revealed indications of
radioactivity in the thermal water. Physicians believed that radioactivity
helped stimulate metabolism and gave relief to arthritic and rheumatic

38
persons.

As early as 1909 hydrotherapists recommended a large pool of hot water
for exercise for rheumatic persons. The water's buoyancy allowed them
to exercise and strengthen weak muscles. Exercises, along with massages
to relax and stretch the muscles, helped to relieve stiffness and provide
more agility. Most bathhouses in the early 1920s operated hydrotherapy
departments. In 1932 the Maurice Bathhouse opened hydrotherapy pool,
and later the Fordyce Bathhouse opened a Hubbard Currence therapy
tank facility. At the Fordyce Bathhouse a physical therapist conducted
30 minutes of exercises after which the patient spent some time cooling off

and resting. 59

The upper part of the Hubbard Currence tub tank had a lateral
hour-glass shape with side levels. This enabled manipulation of upper
body joints and muscles in a vertical position. An adjustable plinth
beneath the water allowed attendants to manipulate a person in a
horizontal position. Two electrically driven turbines, possibly one in the
Fordyce, agitated the water in the tub to create a gentle massage. An
overhead carrier brought immobile patients to the tub and lowered th<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>